IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Defendant and Appellant.) Deputy
THOMAS RAYMOND SHOCKLEY,) Frederick K. Chlrich Clerk)
v.)))
Plaintiff and Respondent,	SUPREME COURT (FILED)
OF CALIFORNIA,) S189462
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE)

Fifth Appellate District No. F058249 Stanislaus County Superior Court No. 1238243 Honorable Thomas D. Zeff, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GREGORY W. BROWN SBN 164519 2280 Grass Valley Highway #342 Auburn, California 95603 (530) 401-5554

By appointment of the California Supreme Court Attorney for Appellant Thomas Raymond Shockley

ISSUE PRESENTED

Is battery a lesser included offense of committing a lewd act with a child under 14 years of age?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 1, 2008, the Stanislaus County District Attorney filed a one-count information against appellant Thomas Shockley, charging him with committing a single lewd act with a child under the age of 14 in violation of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a). (CT 49.) Trial began on February 2, 2009. (CT 62.) When the case was submitted to the jury, the jury was not instructed on the lesser included offense of battery (Pen. Code §242). (CT 70-104.) On February 6, 2009, the jury found appellant guilty of committing a lewd act with a child. (CT 108.)

The trial court sentenced appellant on July 17, 2009. (CT 159.) The court granted appellant probation, and as a condition of probation, sentenced appellant to 120 days in county jail. (CT 159-160.)

Appellant appealed his conviction. (CT 161-162.) On December 8, 2010, the Fifth District Court of Appeal issued its opinion affirming that conviction. Appellant filed a petition for rehearing on December 20, 2010, which the Court of Appeal denied on December 21, 2010.

This Court granted review on March 16, 2011.

¹ All further code references are to the Penal Code.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background

"Jane Doe" testified at trial that in October 2007, appellant touched her on three occasions: he "French kissed" her at her house (RT 84-85; 117-118); he rubbed her stomach as they drove home from a movie (RT 64-65, 74-75); and he rubbed her vagina through her clothes on the same drive. (RT 60-61, 80.)

At trial, the prosecution told the jury that appellant could be convicted of a lewd act for any one of those three acts. (RT 44; Augmented RT 89, 92-93.) In finding appellant guilty of the lewd act charge, the jury did not specify which of the three acts served as the basis for its finding. (CT 110.)

B. Appellant's Relationship To Jane Doe

In 2007, appellant's daughter, Hannah, lived with Ryan Clark and their five children in Modesto. (RT 33-34.) The children in the house included Jane Doe, Ryan's ten-year-old daughter from a previous relationship, and Aliyah, Hannah's nine-year-old daughter from a previous relationship. (RT 33-35.) Appellant and Jane Doe were not related by blood, but she had known appellant for five years, and called him "Grandpa." (RT 34, 45.) Appellant had a good relationship with the family. (RT 36, 120.)

C. The Alleged French Kiss

Jane Doe testified on direct examination that on October 17, 2007, appellant visited Ryan and Hannah's house to celebrate Jane Doe's birthday with the family. (RT 33, 46.)

Jane Doe testified that appellant walked into a room where she had been playing on a computer. (RT 46.) Nobody else was in the room. (RT 46.) Appellant gave her a kiss on the lips. (RT 46-47.) She first testified that she "forgot" whether there was something unusual about appellant's kiss, then she testified she did not know and could not remember whether appellant's mouth was open or closed when he kissed her on the lips. (RT 47.) After a lunch recess, she testified that appellant French kissed her. (RT 84-85; 117-118.) She testified that the kiss embarrassed her. (RT 85.) Then, on cross-examination, when asked whether a French kiss occurred, she replied, "I don't know. I don't know." (RT 121-122.)

D. Further Testimony Regarding the Birthday Party

Jane Doe testified that, as a birthday present, appellant gave her the choice of receiving \$35 or the opportunity to go with him to a movie two days later. (RT 86.) While in past years Jane Doe had chosen the money, this year she chose the movie. (RT 86.) Appellant told her that she could bring anyone she wanted with her to the movie. (RT 86.) She asked appellant if she could bring Aliyah, her nine-year-old step-sister (and appellant's natural granddaughter). Appellant agreed. (RT 86-87.)

E. Alleged Events In the Car Two Days Later

Jane Doe testified that on October 19, 2007, appellant drove her and Aliyah from her house in Modesto to see a movie in the city of Riverbank. (RT 51.) After the movie, he bought them a cappuccino milkshake at Baskin Robbins, then drove them home. (RT 51,

66.) Jane Doe sat in the middle of the front seat and Aliyah sat by the passenger door. (RT 55.)

Jane Doe testified that she asked appellant if she could put her hands on the steering wheel. (RT 58.) Appellant agreed. (RT 58.) Appellant told her to put her leg over his leg. (RT 59.) Jane Doe took off her sweater because she was hot, and appellant rubbed her stomach. (RT 64-65, 74-75.) That made her uncomfortable, so she giggled. (RT 64-65.) Appellant then wrapped his right arm around her right shoulder, reached down, and rubbed her vagina over her clothes while he looked at the road. (RT 60-61, 80.) She was uncomfortable and squirmed, but appellant did not stop. (RT 61.) She looked over at Aliyah with a worried face while squirming, and Aliyah looked right back at her. (RT 81.) Aliyah wanted to move to the middle seat and hold the steering wheel too, so Aliyah and Jane Doe switched seats. (RT 62.) They drove home. (RT 81-82.)

F. Aliyah's Testimony

Aliyah testified that, as she sat next to Jane Doe, she could see events inside the car, and was not looking out the car window. (RT 139-141.) She never saw appellant touch Jane Doe's vagina. (RT 139-142.) At one point, Jane Doe wiggled in her seat and giggled. (RT 134, 141-142.) Aliyah looked at Jane Doe, but did not see anything unusual. (RT 141-142.) Jane Doe asked Aliyah to switch spots with her, and they did. (RT 134.)

G. Subsequent Events

After they got home, the girls went to Jane Doe's room while appellant chatted with

Ryan (Jane Doe's father). (RT 66-67.) Jane Doe told Aliyah that appellant had molested her, and after appellant left the house, Jane Doe told Ryan the same thing. (RT 66-67.)

H. Appellant's Statements To Police

Appellant did not testify. He told police that he did not French kiss Jane Doe or touch her vagina, but he did playfully rub her stomach. (RT 152-157, 165-169.)

I. <u>Impeachment of Jane Doe's Testimony</u>

Jane's Doe's testimony at trial was substantially impeached with numerous inconsistent statements. Some of those inconsistent statements are set forth in Section IX, *post*, in conjunction with an analysis of the prejudice stemming from the trial court's failure to instruct the jury regarding battery.

TRIAL COURTS HAVE A SUA SPONTE DUTY TO INSTRUCT ON A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE IF THE EVIDENCE WOULD JUSTIFY A CONVICTION ON THE LESSER OFFENSE.

A. <u>Sua Sponte Instructions</u>

A court must instruct sua sponte on general principles of law that are closely and openly connected with the facts presented at trial. (*People v. Wickersham* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 307, 323, disapproved on other grounds in *People v. Barton* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 186, 200-201.) This sua sponte obligation extends to lesser included offenses if the evidence "raises a question as to whether all of the elements of the charged offense are present and there is evidence that would justify a conviction of such a lesser offense." (*People v. Ramkeesoon* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 346, 351; accord, *People v. Barton*, *supra*, 12 Cal.4th at pp. 194-195.) "A criminal defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense only if 'there is evidence which, if accepted by the trier of fact, would absolve [the] defendant from guilt of the greater offense' but not the lesser." (*People v. Memro* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 786, 871, emphasis and citations omitted.)

The requirement that courts give sua sponte instructions on lesser included offenses "is based in the defendant's constitutional right to have the jury determine every material issue presented by the evidence." (*People v. Ramkeesoon, supra*, 39 Cal.3d at p. 351.) This sua sponte duty to instruct exists even if the defendant expressly objects to the instruction. (*People v. Barton, supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 195.) "[A] defendant has no legitimate interest in

compelling the jury to adopt an all or nothing approach to the issue of guilt. Our courts are not gambling halls but forums for the discovery of truth." (*People v. St. Martin* (1970) 1 Cal.3d 524, 533; see also *People v. Birks* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 108, 117-120.)

B. The Law Regarding Lesser Included Offenses

A lesser offense is included in the charged offense if either of two tests is met. The first test is the statutory elements test. This test provides that a lesser offense is included in the greater offense when the statutory elements of the greater offense include all of the statutory elements of the lesser offense. (*People v. Birks, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 117; see also *People v. Reed* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1224, 1227.)

The second test is referred to as the accusatory pleading test. The accusatory pleading test looks to whether the charging language describes the greater offense in such a way that if committed, the lesser offense is necessarily committed. (*People v. Montoya* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1031, 1035.) Under this test, an offense is necessarily included in a greater offense if it is impossible to commit the greater offense as pled without also committing the lesser offense. (*Ibid.*)

Battery, then, is a lesser included offense of a lewd act with a child if it is impossible to commit the crime of a lewd act with a child without also committing a battery.

LEWD ACTS WITH CHILDREN ARE "UNLAWFUL USES OF FORCE" AND "HARMFUL OR OFFENSIVE" TOUCHINGS, AND ARE THEREFORE BATTERIES, AS A MATTER OF LAW.

A. The Statutory Definitions of a Lewd Act With a Child and Battery

Section 288(a), prohibiting lewd acts with children, provides in pertinent part:

[A]ny person who willfully and lewdly commits any lewd or lascivious act ... upon or with the body, or any part or member thereof, of a child who is under the age of 14 years, with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust, passions, or sexual desires of that person or the child, is guilty of a felony and shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for three, six, or eight years.

Section 242 defines a battery as "any willful and unlawful use of force or violence upon the person of another."

B. <u>A Lewd Act With a Child Is A "Willful and Unlawful Use of Force," and Thus a Battery, As a Matter of Law</u>

A lewd act with a child is by definition a "willful and unlawful use of force," and is therefore also a battery. First, the lewd touching of a child always constitutes a "use of force" under the battery statute. This Court has determined that a lewd act with a child is accomplished by "any touching" of the child if that touching is done with lewd intent. (*People v. Martinez* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 434, 452.) Similarly, this Court has determined that a battery is accomplished by the "least touching" of a person. (*People v. Rocha* (1971) 3 Cal.3d 893, 899, fn. 12.) If a perpetrator touches a child in any manner with sexual motivation, then, he or she has committed the type of force contemplated under the battery

statute (i.e., the "least touching"). A lewd act with a child, therefore, necessarily includes the "use of force" described in the battery statute.

Furthermore, that lewd touching is necessarily an "unlawful" and "willful" use of force as described in the battery statute. The Legislature classifies lewd acts with children as "violent" and "serious" criminal offenses punishable by up to eight years in state prison. (Pen. Code, § 288, subd. (a); Pen. Code, § 667.5, subd. (c)(6) [violent felony]; Pen. Code, § 1192.7, subd. (c)(6) [serious felony].) Lewd acts with children, therefore, are, without question, "unlawful." And both statutes require that the touching itself be "willful." (Pen. Code, § 242; Pen. Code, § 288, subd. (a); CALCRIM 960 (2010 ed.) Vol. 1, p. 659 [battery]; CALCRIM 1110 (2010 ed.) Vol. 1, p. 807 [lewd act with a child].) Any lewd act with a child, then, is necessarily a "willful and unlawful use of force," and is therefore a battery, as a matter of law. Our Legislature has deemed it so.

C. <u>Batteries are Harmful and Offensive Touchings As a Matter of Law</u>

Any "harmful or offensive" touching satisfies the elements of battery under section 242. (*People v. Pinholster* (1992) 1 Cal.4th 865, 961; CALCRIM 960 (2010 ed.) Vol. 1, p. 659.) Put another way, then, the question before this Court is the one set forth by Court of Appeal in its opinion in this case: "whether a defendant can commit a lewd act [with a child] without touching the victim in a harmful or offensive manner." (Court of Appeal Opinion, p. 7.)

The California Legislature and this Court have already answered this question.

According to the California Legislature and this Court, committing a lewd act with a child is *always* harmful and offensive. The Legislature has declared that committing a lewd act with a child under the age of 14 is punishable by up to eight years in state prison. (Pen. Code, § 288, subd. (a).) The Legislature has also deemed such acts as "serious" and "violent" criminal felonies. (Pen. Code, § 667.5, subd. (c)(6); Pen. Code, § 1192.7, subd. (c)(6).) Because committing a lewd act with a child is, by definition of the Legislature, a serious, violent, criminal offense, it is harmful and offensive as a matter of law. To answer the Fifth District's question, then, a defendant cannot commit a lewd act with a child without touching the victim in a harmful or offensive manner.

And this Court is in full agreement with the Legislature regarding the inherently harmful and offensive nature of lewd acts with children. As this Court recently set forth in *People v. Soto* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 229, 243, citing *People v. Martinez*, *supra*, 11 Cal.4th at pp. 443-444:

[S]ection 288 was enacted to provide children with "special protection" from sexual exploitation. (*People v. Olsen* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 638, 647-648, 205 Cal.Rptr. 492, 685 P.2d 52.) The statute recognizes that children are "uniquely susceptible" to such abuse as a result of their dependence upon adults, smaller size, and relative naiveté. [Citation.] The statute also assumes that young victims suffer profound harm whenever they are perceived and used as objects of sexual desire.

Section 288 protects young children from harm because young children are particularly subject to outrage and exploitation:

Significant harm may occur to a child who is caused to engage

in or submit to the lustful intendments of a person seeking sexual self-gratification. The range of proscribed potentially harmful acts is limited only by the imagination of the perpetrator. The harm may be manifested in many different mental, emotional and physical ways, leaving a child with possible lasting and debilitating fears.

(People v. Austin (1980) 111 Cal.App.3d 110, 114-115.)

Accordingly, this Court has determined that any touching of a child with lewd intent is always profoundly harmful to the child victim. (People v. Soto, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 243; People v. Martinez, supra, 11 Cal.4th at pp. 443-444; J.C. Penney Casualty Ins. Co. v. M.K. (1990) 52 Cal.3d 1009, 1025-1026.) "The act [touching a child under 14 years of age with lewd intent] is the harm." (J.C. Penney Casualty Ins. Co. v. M.K., supra, 52 Cal.3d at p. 1026.) And such touching is not only profoundly harmful, it is also by definition "offensive." (People v. Martinez, supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 443, fn. 7, citing People v. Greer (1947) 30 Cal.2d 589, 601.) If touching a child with lewd intent is always profoundly harmful and offensive, it must also be a battery, a "harmful or offensive" touching.

It is a matter of law decreed by the Legislature, then, that a person cannot commit a lewd act with a child under the age of 14 without touching the victim in a profoundly harmful and offensive manner. This Court has consistently reaffirmed this principle, most recently in *Soto*. (*People v. Soto*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 243.) Since a lewd act with a child under the age of 14 is by definition harmful and offensive, it must also be a battery.

This syllogism is unassailable. As will be demonstrated below, it does not matter how the perpetrator effectuates the lewd touching, whether directly, indirectly, or constructively; it

does not matter whether the young child knows the lewd touch is harmful, or subjectively "takes offense" to it; and it does not matter whether the young child "consents" to such a lewd touch. Touching a child with lewd intent is *per se* harmful and offensive. It is, by definition, an unlawful use of force on another. A lewd act with a child, then, is a battery as a matter of law. This Court need go no further in resolving the issue.

ONE CANNOT COMMIT A LEWD ACT WITH A CHILD WITHOUT ALSO COMMITTING A BATTERY.

A. Introduction

As appellant will demonstrate, one cannot commit a lewd act with a child without committing a battery. Sections 242 and 288(a) both proscribe harmful or injurious touchings. Both statutes broadly construe what constitutes a touching, and what constitutes an injury that results from such touching. The "willful touching" element is identical in both statutes, and the harm inherent in a lewd touch satisfies the "harmful or offensive touching" element of battery.

B. The Elements of a Lewd Act With a Child and a Battery

The elements of a lewd act with a child are:

- 1. The defendant willfully touched any part of a child's body either on the bare skin or through the clothing;
- 2. The defendant committed the act with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust, passions, or sexual desires of himself or herself or the child; and
- 3. The child was under the age of 14 years at the time of the act.

(Pen. Code, § 288, subd. (a); *People v. Martinez*, *supra*, 11 Cal.4th at pp. 444-445; CALCRIM 1110 (2010 ed.) Vol. 1, p. 807.)

The statutory elements of battery are:

1. The defendant willfully touched a person in a harmful or offensive manner.

(Pen. Code, § 242; *People v. Pinholster*, *supra*, 1 Cal.4th at p. 961; CALCRIM 960 (2010 ed.) Vol. 1, p. 659.)

One can simplify the elements of both offenses for a direct comparison. When one subtracts the unique elements under section 288(a) - that the touching involves a child under the age of 14 and is done with lewd intent – the following elements remain:

The defendant willfully touches a person in a harmful or offensive manner.The defendant willfully touches any part of a person's body whether on the bare skin or through the clothing.

One must ask, then: 1) whether the touching requirement is the same for both offenses; and 2) whether the harm or injury inherent in a lewd act with a child qualifies as a "harmful or offensive" touching.

- C. <u>The "Touching" or "Use of Force" Requirements for a Lewd</u>
 Act With a Child and a Battery Are Identical
 - 1. "Any Touching" of a Child Satisfies the Use of Force Requirement for Section 288(a)

Section 288(a) prohibits a person who harbors lewd intent from touching any part of a child's body, specifically, "commit[ting] any lewd or lascivious act ... upon or with the body, or any part or member thereof, of a child." Any touching of any part of a child's body, whether through the child's clothing or not, satisfies the touching element of the statute. (CALCRIM 1110 (2010 ed.) Vol. 1, p. 807.) As this Court stated in *Martinez*:

[T]hroughout the statute's history, the cases have made clear that a "touching" of the victim is required, and that sexual gratification must be presently intended at the time such "touching" occurs. However, the form, manner, or nature of the offending act is not otherwise restricted. Conviction under the statute has never depended upon contact with the

bare skin or "private parts" of the defendant or the victim. Stated differently, a lewd or lascivious act can occur through the victim's clothing and can involve "any part" of the victim's body.

More recent authorities apply the same principles but tend to articulate them in more succinct terms. Like the jury instructions given in this case, modern courts state or imply that *any* touching of an underage child is "lewd or lascivious" within the meaning of section 288 where it is committed for the purpose of sexual arousal.

(*People v. Martinez*, *supra*, 11 Cal.4th at pp. 444-445, emphasis in original, citations omitted.)

Thus, this Court "adhere[s] to the long-standing rule that section 288 is violated by 'any touching'" of the person of a minor under age 14. (*Id.* at p. 452.)

2. The "Least Touching" Satisfies the Use of Force Requirement for Section 242

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