COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA,**

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

THOMAS RAYMOND SHOCKLEY,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S189462

SUPREME COURT
FILED

SEP 20 2011

Frederick K. Orlin, Clerk
Deputy

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F058249
Stanislaus County Superior Court, Case No. 1238243
Honorable Thomas D. Zeff, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL P. FARRELL
Senior Assistant Attorney General
LOUIS M. VASQUEZ
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
JANET NEELEY
Deputy Attorney General
LEANNE LEMON

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

The rationale behind allowing a constructive touching under section 288, however, does not apply to section 242. A “touching” for purposes of proving a lewd and lascivious act is broadly construed. (*People v. Martinez, supra*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 444.) “[Section 288] was enacted to provide children with special protection from sexual exploitation.” (*Id.* at pp. 443-444.) “The statute recognizes that children are ‘uniquely susceptible’ to such abuse as a result of their dependence upon adults, smaller size and relative naivet.” (*Id.* at p. 444.) Section 288 has been amended on numerous occasions since it was enacted and the Legislature is assumed to be “aware of the manner in which the offense has been judicially construed and that it has refrained from modifying the substantive terms because it accepts the prevailing view.” (*Id.* at pp. 445-446.)

The same principles do not apply to battery. Battery was not enacted to protect children, as opposed to adults, but applies to any age victim. Furthermore, the essence of the crime of battery is the touching not the

intent of the perpetrator. Much of the reason courts have permitted constructive touching under section 288 revolves around punishing the act because it was occasioned by a perpetrator's specific lewd intent. (*Austin, supra*, 111 Cal.App.3d at p. 115.) The same rationale does not apply to battery. As a result, respondent submits that *Thomas* was wrongly decided and that battery is not a lesser included offense to section 288 because battery cannot be accomplished through constructive touching.

Even assuming that battery can be accomplished through constructive touching it still is not a lesser included offense to section 288, subdivision (a). The court in *Thomas* did not address whether battery requires a harmful or offensive touching because the People had stipulated that the touching in that case was harmful or offensive. (*Thomas, supra*, at p. 1292, fn. 8.) Nor did *Thomas* address the issue of consent. Respondent submits that based on arguments I-III, above, *Thomas* was wrongly decided even if the touching making up the lewd act was accomplished through constructive touching because all lewd acts do not require an unlawful harmful or offensive touching.

B. Constructive Lewd Touches By Defendants Are Not Necessarily Batteries

Appellant asserts that because an assault is necessarily included within a battery and both require an identical mental state that "a person who initiates and then watches the touching of a child for sexual gratification . . . is aware of facts that would lead a reasonable person to understand that his or her course of conduct would 'directly, naturally, and probably' result in the child being touched in a harmful manner," battery must be a lesser included offense of section 288. (AOB 31-36.)

Appellant's argument is flawed in two respects. As noted above, appellant assumes that the constructive touching making up the lewd and

lascivious act is unlawful, harmful or offensive. However, this is not a requirement of section 288, subdivision (a).

A child at the direction of a parent may undress while the parent watches. Although this may constitute a constructive touching under section 288, it is not inherently harmful or offensive to the child. The parent's intent may be to have the child change into new clothes or bathe, in other words, the intent is not lewd. However, if the parent's intent is to arouse his or her sexual desires or to arouse the child's, then the parent has violated section 288, subdivision (a) through a constructive touching. Thus, a constructive touching may violate section 288 without violating section 242.

Moreover, under this scenario the constructive touching making up the lewd act would not constitute a touching under section 242 because as noted above, section 242 requires either a direct or an indirect touching. (*People v. Marshall, supra*, 15 Cal.4th at p. 38.)

Thus, for the reasons stated above, a lewd act accomplished through constructive touching does not necessarily encompass the harmful or offensive touching a battery requires.

C. Under the Elements Test Battery Is Not A Lesser Included Offense Of Section 288, Subdivision (a)

The *Thomas* court provided no real analysis of the respective offenses pursuant to the elements or accusatory pleading tests. Rather, it focused its analysis exclusively on whether the element of "touching" could be accomplished constructively for purposes of both the offenses of battery and lewd acts. (*Thomas, supra*, Cal.App.4th at p. 1291-1293.) The court concluded there was "no basis to conclude that the touching can be constructive under section 288 but not under section 242." (*Id.* at p. 1293.) As noted above, respondent disagrees with the premise that a battery can be accomplished through a constructive touching. Other than *Thomas*,

respondent has found no case holding that a battery can be committed by constructively touching the victim.⁵ Respondent submits that under the elements test, a lewd and lascivious act on a child can be committed without also necessarily committing the lesser crime of battery if the lewd act is committed by the defendant constructively touching the victim.

Furthermore, as discussed above, an offender may commit a lewd and lascivious act (by a touching committed with the intent to arouse), but not commit a battery (by ensuring that the touching is not deemed unlawful, offensive or harmful by the victim).

V. WHERE THE TOUCHING IS OBJECTIVELY INNOCENT AND THE VICTIM CONSENTS TO THE TOUCHING, A LEWD ACT CAN STILL BE COMMITTED WITHOUT A BATTERY OCCURRING

Appellant asserts that a battery is committed even when a child is not offended by the touching because lewd acts are always harmful to children. (AOB 38-40.) As noted above, respondent submits that a lewd act can occur without also committing a battery because a lewd act can be committed by an objectively non-offensive or harmful touching to which a victim consents, thus, making it both subjectively inoffensive to the victim and objectively inoffensive.

Appellant argues that batteries are not determined by whether the victim was subjectively offended by the touching. (AOB 38.) While

⁵ Appellant cites *People v. Wright* (1996) 52 Cal.App.4th 203, 210, to support his contention that battery can be committed by indirect force. (AOB 28; *People v. Wright, supra*, 52 Cal.App.4th at 210 [“A defendant can commit a battery indirectly by causing the force to be applied to the person of another [citation] and thus can be guilty of indirect assault as well.”]) This language, however, was dicta because it was unnecessary to the court’s analysis. The issue in *People v. Wright* was whether assault was a lesser included offense of robbery by force. The issue did not involve battery.

respondent agrees that there is an objective component to battery, respondent submits that there is also a subjective component as well.

As noted above, battery is a general intent crime. (*People v. Lara, supra*, 44 Cal.App.4th at p. 107.) The law requires only that a defendant "actually intend to commit a 'willful and unlawful use of force or violence upon the person of another.'" (*Ibid.*) Intent to cause injury and the subjective awareness of risk is not required to prove a battery. (*People v. Hayes* (2006) 142 Cal.App.4th 175, 180.) The test is objective and all that must be shown is that the defendant committed an

intentional act and [had] actual knowledge of those facts sufficient to establish that the act by its nature [would] probably and directly result in the application of physical force against another.

(*People v. Williams* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 779, 790 [assault context]; *People v. Hayes* (2006) 142 Cal.App.4th 175, 180.) The defendant must have been aware of "facts that would lead a reasonable person to realize that a battery would directly, naturally and probably result from his conduct." (*People v. Williams, supra*, at p. 788; *People v. Hayes, supra*, at p. 180.) It is of no consequence that the defendant might have honestly believed his intentional act was unlikely to result in a battery. (*People v. Williams, supra*, at p. 788, fn. 3.)

However, the victim's subjective intent becomes relevant in determining whether a battery was "unlawful." In order to show that the touching was unlawful, it must be shown that the victim did not consent to the contact. (*Barouh v. Haberman* (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 40, 46; accord, *Fluharty v. Fluharty* (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 484, 497 ["contact is "unlawful" if it is unconsented to"].) As noted above, a victim can consent to ordinary physical contact. Thus, in the context of a battery that involves ordinary physical contact, whether the victim is subjectively offended is

relevant in determining whether a battery has occurred because the touching has to be unlawful.

As appellant concedes, when a parent tickles a child's stomach or kisses a child without lewd intent there is no battery since the touching is not inherently harmful and the child does not take offense to the touching. (AOB 40.) However, appellant maintains that if the same acts (tickling or kissing a child) are done with a lewd intent then a battery is committed. (AOB 40.)

For numerous reasons this position is untenable. As noted above, battery is a general intent crime. Thus, the lewd intent of the defendant cannot be a basis for finding the touching harmful or offensive since it is not an element that is included in a battery. Second, the touching for a violation of section 288 does not have to be lewd; only the perpetrator's intent has to be lewd. (See CALCRIM No. 1110.) Third, under the elements test the offenses would be identical under appellant's scenario. There would be no additional element comprising a lewd act if the lewd act was what made the touching harmful or offensive. Thus, it would be inconceivable that a jury could acquit on the greater offense (§ 288, subd. (a)) and convict on the lesser offense (§ 242) because the defendant would be guilty of the lewd conduct or nothing at all.

Based on the foregoing, it is clear that a battery is not a lesser included offense to lewd acts with children (§ 288, subd. (a)).

VI. A FINDING THAT BATTERY IS NOT A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE TO SECTION 288, SUBDIVISION (A) WOULD NOT ALLOW A DEFENDANT TO ESCAPE LIABILITY FOR OTHER RELATED OFFENSES

Appellant asserts that if this Court does not find that battery is a lesser included offense to section 288, subdivision (a), individuals who touch children in a harmful or offensive manner without harboring a lewd intent would escape liability. (AOB 41.) This argument is unpersuasive because

the district attorneys have the authority to charge the crimes in the complaint or information, if they believe the facts warrant such charges.

The district attorney of each county is the public prosecutor, vested with the power to conduct on behalf of the People all prosecutions for public offenses within the county. (Gov. Code, § 26500; *Hicks v. Board of Supervisors* (1977) 69 Cal. App. 3d 228, 240 [138 Cal. Rptr. 101].) Subject to supervision by the Attorney General (Cal. Const., art. V, § 13; Gov. Code, § 12550), therefore, the district attorney of each county independently exercises all the executive branch's discretionary powers in the initiation and conduct of criminal proceedings. (*People ex rel. Younger v. Superior Court* (1978) 86 Cal. App. 3d 180, 203 [150 Cal. Rptr. 156]; *People v. Municipal Court (Pellegrino)* (1972) 27 Cal. App. 3d 193, 199–204 [103 Cal. Rptr. 645, 66 A.L.R.3d 717].) The district attorney's discretionary functions extend from the investigation and gathering of evidence relating to criminal offenses (*Hicks v. Board of Supervisors, supra*, 69 Cal. App. 3d at p. 241), through the crucial decisions of whom to charge and what charges to bring, to the numerous choices the prosecutor makes at trial regarding "whether to seek, oppose, accept, or challenge judicial actions and rulings." (*Dix v. Superior Court, supra*, 53 Cal. 3d at p. 452; see also *People v. Superior Court (Greer)* (1977) 19 Cal. 3d 255, 267 [137 Cal. Rptr. 476, 561 P.2d 1164] [giving as examples the manner of conducting voir dire examination, the granting of immunity, the use of particular witnesses, the choice of arguments, and the negotiation of plea bargains].)

(*People v. Eubanks* (1996) 14 Cal. 4th 580, 589, italics added.)

Therefore, if a district attorney believed that based on the facts of a specific case a defendant committed both a lewd act and a battery on a child, the district attorney under his or her discretionary power, could charge both crimes. The same would be true if the prosecutor believed that a violation of section 647.6, subdivision (a), was committed. (See AOB 41.) Thus, appellant's concern that a defendant may escape criminal liability is unfounded.

VII. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL TO WARRANT AN INSTRUCTION ON BATTERY

Appellant asserts that there was substantial evidence presented at trial to instruct on battery. (AOB 42-49.) Even assuming, without conceding, that battery is a lesser included offense of committing a lewd act with a child, the trial court still should not have instructed the jury on battery because there was not substantial evidence to support such an instruction.

“[A] trial court must instruct on lesser included offenses, even in the absence of a request, whenever there is substantial evidence raising a question as to whether all of the elements of the charged offense are present.” [Citation.] Conversely, even on request, the court “has no duty to instruct on any lesser offense unless there is substantial evidence to support such instruction.”

(*People v. Cole* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1158, 1215; see also *People v. Breverman*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 154.) Substantial evidence exists where there is evidence from which a jury composed of reasonable persons could conclude that the defendant was guilty of the lesser crime. (*People v. Breverman*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 162.) It is evidence that

must reach a level sufficient to “deserve consideration by the jury, i.e., ‘evidence from which a jury composed of reasonable [people] could have concluded’” that the particular facts underlying the instruction did exist. [Citations.] Thus, a trial court need not instruct [on lesser] offenses unless the evidence would justify a conviction of such offenses.

(*People v. Turner* (1983) 145 Cal.App.3d 658, 679, disapproved on other grounds in *People v. Majors* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 385, 411.)

Here, if appellant did in fact, French kiss Jane Doe, rub her stomach, or rub her vagina, as Jane Doe testified, he committed those touchings with the intent of arousing his “lust, passions, or sexual desires.” If, as he claimed in his interview with Officer Nelson, he only “hugged her” and poked her belly without any intent of sexual gratification, he was not guilty

of any crime. Jane Doe had no objection to just being hugged and kissed by appellant, as shown by the fact that she voluntarily hugged and kissed appellant without objection when she saw him on other occasions. (CT 175, 199.) Thus, if the touching consisted of a simple kiss and poke to the stomach, then there was no battery because it was not “harmful or offensive.”

Furthermore, appellant denied touching her vagina and insisted that Jane Doe must have said he touched her vagina because she was not thinking clearly due to the amount of caffeine she had while they were out. (RT 166-167, 176.) Therefore, there was no evidence presented for the jury to conclude that appellant touched her vagina for a non-sexual purpose. The jury was left to either believe appellant and acquit him or believe Jane Doe and find him guilty. As a result, the trial court was under no duty to sua sponte instruct on battery because there was insufficient evidence to support the instruction.

VIII. ANY ERROR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON BATTERY WAS HARMLESS

Appellant asserts that the trial court’s failure to instruct on battery was prejudicial to his case. (AOB 50-55.) Even assuming the trial court erred in failing to instruct on battery, the error was harmless because it is not reasonably probable that appellant would have received a more favorable result if the instruction had been given. (*People v. Breverman, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 178; *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836.)

The evidence here indicated that appellant was motivated by an intent to arouse his lust or sexual desires. While he argues that the evidence can be interpreted to indicate that he innocently touched Jane Doe’s stomach or merely was licking his lips when Jane Doe kissed him on the lips in the movie theater, this is belied by Jane Doe’s testimony that appellant rubbed her stomach under her clothes and then began rubbing her

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